
CITY OF RICHARDSON 
CITY PLAN COMMISSION MINUTES – JULY 16, 2024 

The Richardson City Plan Commission met on July 16, 2024, at 7:00 p.m. in the Multipurpose 
Room #CH157 of the Richardson City Hall, 2360 Campbell Creek Boulevard, Suite 525, 
Richardson, TX. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Kenneth Southard, Vice Chairman 
Gary Beach, Commissioner 
Rebecca Poynter, Commissioner 
Byron Purdy, Commissioner 
Nate Roberts, Commissioner 

MEMBERS ABSENT: Bryan Marsh, Chairman 
Sebrena Bohnsack, Commissioner 
Joe Costantino, Commissioner 
Michael Keller, Commissioner 

CITY STAFF PRESENT: Sam Chavez, Director of Development Services 
Derica Peters, Senior Planner 
Keith Krum, Planning Projects Manager 
Amber Pollan, Planner – Strategic Planning 
Anna Jo Castaneda, Executive Secretary 

BRIEFING SESSION 
Prior to the start of the regular business meeting, the City Plan Commission met with staff 
regarding staff reports and agenda items. No action was taken. 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1. Approval of Minutes of the regular business meeting of July 2, 2024.

Motion: Commissioner Roberts made a motion to approve the minutes as presented. 
Commissioner Beach seconded the Motion. Motion passed 5-0. 

PUBLIC HEARING 

2. ZF 24-15 Special Permit – Good Shepherd of North Texas: Consider and act on a request
for approval of a Special Permit for a childcare center within an existing 4,784 square foot
building on a 0.4-acre lot currently zoned C-M Commercial located at 1006 Hampshire Lane,
south of Arapaho Road, on the east side of Hampshire Lane. Owner: Darrin May, DCM

Properties, LP. Staff: Derica Peters.

Ms. Derica Peters stated the subject site is located at 1006 Hampshire Lane and is zoned 
Commercial C-M. The property was approved for a childcare center in 1990 and operated in 
conjunction with the property to the north. In 2019, the property to the north and this property has 
been vacant since. Since the childcare center ceased operations for a period of 180 days the rights 
that were previously established were abandoned.  

APPROVED



 
 2 
 
Ms. Peters explained in 2021 a request for a Special Permit for a childcare center was approved at 
this location. The applicant was able to do some upgrades to the site but was unable to obtain a 
building permit in time and Special Permit expired. The new applicant, Good Shepherd of North 
Texas, seeks to open and operate a childcare center at this location for children ages infants to 12 
years old and will be limited to a maximum of eighty (80) children, which will be a special 
condition of the Special Permit. The hours of operation will be Monday through Friday, 6:30 AM 
to 6:30 PM, and drop off and pick up procedures will be managed via a mobile check in system. 
 
Ms. Peters advised that due to limited mobility within the parking lot, the applicant will enter into 
an agreement with the property owner to the south to have access to an additional ten (10) off-site 
parking spaces, therefore having access to a total of twenty-six (26) spaces. They will also enter 
into a shared dumpster agreement. The site provides a 3,000 square foot playground with a portion 
of the playground having a soft play area leaving the remaining play area concrete, and the 
playground is surrounded by a six-foot-tall solid vinyl fence. There will be no modifications to the 
site other than any interior work needed to bring the building up to Code. No correspondence has 
been received for this request and Ms. Peters stated she was available for any questions. 
 
Commissioner Beach asked why the eighty (80) children maximum as a special condition.  
 
Ms. Peters replied it is a commonly adopted special condition for childcare centers, and the number 
to what the State of Texas will allow for this type and size of facility. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if there were any other questions for staff, seeing none the public 
hearing was opened and the applicant was asked to come forward. 
 
Nii and Justine Laryea, 1019 Sable Drive, Rockwall, Texas stated their mission is to provide an 
affordable, safe, educational environment for children between the ages of infant to 12 years old. 
They are committed to fostering cognitive, social, emotional, and physical development. 
 
Ms. Laryea commented they want to bring back affordable childcare to the community since the 
facility has been vacant for a couple of years. She explained she is a nurse practitioner, and they 
will make sure that the children are meeting the state requirement for immunization and will 
practice safe standards. 
 
Mr. Samuel Darko, 6304 Sudbury Lane, Mesquite, Texas introduced himself as a consultant and 
explained their goal is to raise the standard of childcare in this community. Children will be taken 
care of and parents will have the opportunity to go to work and know their children are safe. They 
will also be providing breakfast, lunch, and snacks for the children. 
 
Commissioner Purdy asked if children will be dropped off or if parents will stay.  
 
Mr. Laryea replied dropped off. 
 
Commissioner Roberts complimented the applicant in opening a childcare center and asked what 
time activities started at the soccer facility. 
 
Mr. Laryea replied 8:00 pm on weekdays and earlier on weekends. 
 

APPROVED



 
 3 
 
Commissioner Poynter asked how many employees they would have and where would they be 
expected to park. 
 
Mr. Laryea stated they expected to have five (5) employees if they get maximum of students, and 
they would park offsite at the soccer facility. 
 
Commissioner Purdy asked if there would be robo-taxi delivering any children. 
 
Mr. Darko replied that they would not be going in that direction, however, they do plan on getting 
a school bus for transportation. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if parents would park and bring the child inside to check in. 
 
Mr. Laryea explained that parents would use the mobile app to check in, and during peak drop-off 
and pick-up times staff will escort the children inside. When parents brought a child outside these 
times, they would be required to escort their child in for check-in. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked if there was a fence between their parking lot and the offsite parking. 
 
Mr. Laryea answered no. 
 
Seeing no more speakers, Commissioner Beach made a motion to close the public hearing. 
Commissioner Purdy seconded the motion and motion passed 5-0. 
 

Motion: Commissioner Beach made a motion to recommend approval of the request as 
presented. Commissioner Roberts seconded. Motion passed 5-0. 

 
3. ZF 24-16 Special Permit – Clay Cooley VW: Consider and act on a request for approval of 

a Special Permit for a Motor Vehicle Body Shop on a 1.4-acre lot, a Special Permit for a Motor 
Vehicle Storage Lot on a 0.04-acre lot, and a Special Permit for a Motor Vehicle Repair Shop 
(Minor) on a 1.2-acre lot, currently zoned Main Street/Central Expressway PD Planned 
Development (Interurban Sub-District) and located within existing buildings located between 
Bishop Avenue and N. Interurban Street, and between Jackson Street and Davis Street. Owner: 

Clay Cooley, 404 Bishop Ave LLC. Staff: Derica Peters. 
 
Ms. Peters stated the request is related to three (3) developments located in the block bounded by 
Davis Street, Bishop Avenue, Interurban Street and Jackson Street and is zoned as part of the Main 
St. Central Expressway form-based code PD in the Interurban Sub-district. The site includes a 
parking lot, and two buildings which have operated as auto-related uses. In recent years all 
automotive related services and repairs in these buildings have been vacated. Since the auto related 
uses ceased for a period exceeding 180 days, the uses are deemed to have been abandoned, 
therefore a Special Permit is required to reestablish the requested uses.   
 
Ms. Peters advised that the applicant is the Clay Cooley VW Dealership, and their intent is to 
reestablish the auto-related uses that were previously permitted to operate out of the facilities to 
support the needs of the dealership and its service department on the south side of Jackson Street. 
 

APPROVED



 
 4 
 
Ms. Peters said that Development 1 is an 18,000 square-foot paved parking lot surrounded by an 
8-foot-tall chain link fence with razor wire on top that the applicant intends to use for overflow 
storage. They will be limited to access to and from that driveway approach from the rear alley by 
a sliding gate and is a condition of the Special Permit.   
 
Ms. Peters continued stating that Development 2 is a series of four interconnected buildings that 
are approximately 29,800 square feet in total. The applicant is requesting a Special Permit for a 
2,800 square feet motor vehicle body shop and the remainder of the building will be used for file 
storage. 
 
Ms. Peters stated at Development 3, they will utilize 9,800 square feet for storage of vehicle body 
parts, 3,700 square feet for office use and 5,709 square feet where they intend to reestablish uses 
for motor vehicle repair, minor, so they may offer window tinting services.  
 
Ms. Peters advised they do not plan on making any modifications to the sites; however, they will 
be updating the paint on the exterior, cleaning up the landscaping and the overgrowth. They do not 
expect any visitors to the sites as customers will be asked to drop off their cars at the dealership 
location. No correspondence has been received for this request and Ms. Peters stated she was 
available for any questions.  
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked about employee parking for Developments 2 and 3. 
 
Ms. Peters stated that Development 3 employees would park in the back and there should be 
enough parking on-site for employees for Development 2. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if there were any other questions for staff, seeing none the public 
hearing was opened and the applicant was asked to come forward. 
 
Ed Hicks, Jr., 5009 Spanish Oaks, Frisco, Texas, General Manager at Clay Cooley Volkswagen, 
provided background information to explain the facilities were purchased from Classic BMW who 
had owned them for several years. Clay Cooley is building a new facility that will be the largest 
Volkswagen dealership in the state. The extra property was needed for their expansion to house 
the accounting department, a body shop and detailing and window tinting for all the dealerships 
owned by Clay Cooley. There will be over four hundred (400) new and used vehicles stocked 
there. Their plan is to hire twenty-two (22) employees for the new facility and based on the 
increased body work and service, they will need to hire an additional twenty-five (25) employees. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked about the total number of employees.  
 
Mr. Hicks replied that the dealership is currently at sixty-eight (68) employees, and they have 
expanded the service department to fifty-two (52) stalls, so the goal would be 130 to 135 
employees, including the body shop.  
 
Commissioner Poynter asked what their timeline was, if they would be cleaning up the landscape 
and if there's going to be any changes to the fence on Development 2. 
 

APPROVED



 
 5 
 
Mr. Hicks said their focus is to get the new dealership open by September 1st and then they will 
shift over to improve these facilities. He explained he was not aware of a fence in the back; 
however, they would do what was needed to repair or replace it. 
 
Commissioner Purdy asked if Mr. Hicks could explain the file storage solutions being leveraged 
in the Development 2. 
 
Mr. Hicks replied that all files of eighteen (18) dealership locations will be in this building. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked how many cars can be parked in the lot in Development 1. 
 
Mr. Hicks replied 662. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked how many spaces will be on the new dealership lot. 
 
Mr. Hicks said there will be 538 parking spaces with the new facility. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked how the new facility was progressing. 
 
Mr. Hicks replied that they were behind due to supply issues and Volkswagen mandates every type 
of building materials they are to use. They now project opening September 1st.  
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked what the timeline was for utilizing the new properties.  
 
Mr. Hicks stated there were certifications that needed to be filed with Volkswagen, Kia and with 
Nissan before they could proceed but he expected it to be within 30 to 45 days, however, they were 
going to go ahead and clean it up before then. 
 
Commissioner Beach asked if they could paint a mural or add color to the dealership to make it 
more attractive.   
 
Mr. Hicks answered that he made the request in the past which was denied by Volkswagen because 
of their set standards and Clay Cooley has no control over that decision. 
 
Commissioner Poynter expressed concern with the condition of the perimeter chain link fence on 
the south end of Development 2. 
 
Mr. Hicks stated they had no use for that fence, and they can remove it.  
 
Seeing no more speakers, Commissioner Beach made a motion to close the public hearing. 
Commissioner Roberts seconded the motion and motion passed 5-0. 

 
Motion: Commissioner Roberts made a motion to recommend approval of the request 

as presented. Commissioner Beach seconded. Motion passed 5-0. 
 
ADJOURN 
 

APPROVED



 
 6 
 
With no further business before the Commission, Vice Chairman Southard adjourned the regular 
business meeting at 7:40 p.m. 
 
 
 
      
Ken Southard, Vice Chairman 
 

APPROVED




